1991

Leo A. Walker v. Brigham City, Peter C. Knudsen,  
Beth W. Currister, David G. Hacking, Dee J.  
Hammon, Robert B. Shelton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i), unless the definition of "local agency" under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) is broad enough to include a city itself as opposed to its agencies.

## ISSUES PRESENTED

In short, may a city use fees for city-owned electric services as revenue raising tax substitutes?

In more detail, may a city which owns and operates an electric utility system, under Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-1 et seq., set rates for utility service such that large surpluses are anticipated and generated which are regularly transferred to the general fund and used for general city obligations, and which result in one-third of all general revenues of the city?

## CONTROLLING STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Constitution of Utah, Article I, Section 22 states:

Private property shall not be taken  
. . . for public use without just  
compensation.

Utah Code An. § 55-3-10 states:

Rates for services furnished by any project or service as described in Section 55-3-1 hereof shall be reasonable and uniform in respect to class at all times. They may be fixed precedent to the issuance of the bonds. Such rates shall be sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest upon and principal of all such bonds as and when the same become due and payable, to create a bond and interest sinking fund therefor, to provide for the payment of the expenses of administration and operation and such expenses for the maintenance of the project or service, necessary to preserve the same in good repair and working order, to build up a reserve for depreciation, to build up a reserve for improvements, betterments and extensions other than those necessary to maintain the same in good repair and working order, and to pay the interest on and principal of any other bonds or obligations outstanding and issued in connection with the purchase, construction, repair or improvement of the project or service. Such rates may be fixed and revised from time to time so as to produce these amounts and the governing body may covenant and agree in the ordinance or other legislative enactment authorizing the issuance of such bonds and on the face of each bond at all times to maintain such rates for services furnished by the project or service as shall be sufficient to provide for the foregoing, but not in excess of a reasonable rate for the service rendered.

(Emphasis added.)



### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A citizen of Brigham City challenges overcharges for city-owned electric power which result in large, anticipated and realized surpluses which are regularly transferred to the city's general fund and used for general obligations of the city.

When it became undisputed that approximately \$1,500,000 yearly in electric utility surplus revenues were being transferred into the city's general fund, the citizen/plaintiff moved for partial summary judgment. It was "partial" because it related only to the surplus electric utility charges, and his complaint was broader. The lower court denied the motion.

The city then filed a motion for partial summary judgment which was granted.

The citizen/plaintiff appeals 1) the denial of his motion for partial summary judgment, and 2) the granting of the city/defendant's motion for partial summary judgment. See Facts, below.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

For years, Brigham City has regularly budgeted that the rates it charges the Appellant and others for its city-owned electric power will produce huge surpluses. Such surpluses, approximately \$1.5 million per year, are generated, transferred to the general fund, and used for general city obligations.

Electric utility charges are fees for a service. Taxes, not fees, may be used to generate revenues. Regularly anticipating and realizing large revenues from the charging of utility fees is illegal under statute and case law, and constitutes an unconstitutional taking without just compensation.

Use of utility fees to raise revenues alters the legislatively created scheme for spreading tax burdens.

The granting of the City's motion for summary judgment was therefore improper and appellant's motion for summary judgment should have been granted.

#### **FACTS**

1. Defendant/Respondent, Brigham City Corporation (hereafter "the City") is a municipal corporation. the remaining defendants were members of the city council and/or agents of the City in charge of collecting for electrical usage.

2. The City owns and operates the only electric utility within the city which provides power to Plaintiff/Appellant. R. at 286; 290, para. 2; 330, para. 7; 638-39; 641, para. 1; 654, para 7.

3. Plaintiff/Appellant (hereafter the "Citizen") is a resident of the City and a retired plumbing contractor living on limited means, owns real estate within the City, and subscribes to an pays for public utility service provided by the City owned

electric utility. R. at 057, para. 1; 178, para. 1; 290, para. 2; 405, para. 1.

4. Monies paid to the City for electrical power are held in a consolidated utility fund with separate accounting for electric utility revenues. R. at 290, para. 5; 329, para. 5; 641, para. 6; 653, para. 5.

5. The rates which the City charged and charges the Citizen and all other citizens of the City for electric power, were set by the City to yield, consistently, large surpluses over and above the costs of providing the utility service. R. at 059, paragraphs 16, 22; 181, paragraphs 16, 22; 286. See also, paragraphs 10 to 11, below.

6. The costs necessary to provide the service consist of the following, as set by statute: 1) the payment of interest and principal of all bonds, 2) a bond and interest sinking fund, 3) payment of the expenses of administration and operation and maintenance of the project or service, 4) creating a reserve for depreciation, and 5) creating a reserve for improvements, betterments and extensions other than those necessary to maintain the system. Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-10.

Thus the surpluses anticipated and received by the City were expected by the City to exceed, and exceeded all costs to provide the utility service.

7. The surpluses were transferred to the City's general fund, commingled with tax revenues received by the City

and used for general obligations of the City. R. at 061, para. 23; 181, para. 17; 182, para. 23; 286; 290, para. 6; 641, para. 7; 653, para 1.

8. The City regularly set rates for power usage high enough to yield large surpluses; budgets approved by the City specifically contemplated the generation of the following electric utility surpluses in the following fiscal years:

1986-87	\$1,275,859
---------	-------------

1988-89	\$1,275,858
---------	-------------

R. at 215, para. 45; 242, para. 45; 278, para. 2; R. at 251 (Facts not disputed by the City). Budgets for other years included similar anticipated surpluses, but the amounts are in dispute. R. at 228-246.

9. The City budgets contemplated that the anticipated electric utility surpluses would be transferred from the consolidated utility fund to the city's general fund and used for general city obligations. Id. and R. at 060, para. 17 & 18; 178, para. 1; 181, para. 18.

10. Anticipated surpluses were actually realized by the City. The City recovered the following surpluses in the following years:

1982-83	\$1,184,996
1983-84	1,193,931
1984-85	1,494,993
1985-86	1,770,678
1986-87	approx. 1,275,000
1987-88	1,275,858

R. at 212, para. 26; 236, para 26; 238, para. 31; 239, para. 36; 241, para. 41; 242, para. 45; 244, para. 53.

11. All anticipated or actual electric utility expenses for each fiscal year were:

	Budgeted	Actual
1982-83		
1983-84		1,194,796
1984-85		2,026,170
1985-86	2,286,893	
1986-87	2,706,559	
1987-88		
1988-89		

R. at 214, para. 39; 215, para. 44; 238, para. 31; 239, para. 36; 240, para. 39; 242, para. 44; 243, para. 48. Budgeted and actual expenses for other years where no figure is listed were similar, but the exact amount in dispute. R. at 228-246.

12. A simple comparison of paragraphs 10 and 11, above, indicates that the charges to rate-payers which resulted in the revenues to pay the electric utility expenses and to provide the surpluses in paragraph 10, were almost double that necessary to provide the services alone. In fiscal year 1983-84, the costs of providing the electrical services was almost the same as the surplus transferred to the general fund, therefore the charges to rate payers was almost double that which was necessary.

13. The fact that the surpluses, their anticipation and their use, were not in dispute is also illustrated by the

statement of the City's counsel at oral argument February 25,  
1991:

The charges for utility services have historically, in Brigham City, generated a surplus, . . . That surplus is transferred pursuant to the City's budget process to the general fund and is used for general municipal activities.

Transcript of hearing at 2.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The transcription of the hearing was designated as part of the record but was not numbered by the district court clerk.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

BECAUSE SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS GRANTED BELOW,  
THIS COURT WILL AFFIRM ONLY WHEN NO GENUINE  
ISSUE OF FACT EXISTS AND THE MOVING PARTY IS  
ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.  
FACTS WILL BE REVIEWED IN A LIGHT MOST  
FAVORABLE TO THE CITIZEN.

It is well settled law that the standard for review is  
as stated in the point heading above:

A grant of summary judgment is appropriate  
only when no genuine issue of material fact  
exists and the moving party is entitled to  
judgment as a matter of law. In considering  
an appeal from a grant of summary judgment,  
we review the facts in a light most favorable  
to the losing party below.

Little America Hotel v. Salt Lake City, 785 P.2d 1106, 1107 (Utah  
1989), quoting Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Utah v. State, 779  
P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989). The trial court's conclusions are  
accorded no deference. Sacramento Baseball Club, Inc. v. The  
Great N. Baseball Co., 786, P.2d 763, 767 (Utah 1987). Citations  
to the quotation and Blue Cross and Blue Shield are omitted.

The lower court not only granted the City's motion for  
summary judgment, but denied summary judgment to the Citizen.  
Because the Citizen lost its motion for summary judgment, facts  
relating to that motion for summary judgment should also be  
considered in a light most favorable to the Citizen.

## POINT II

**BY STATUTE A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION MAY NOT CHARGE MORE THAN IS REASONABLE AND NECESSARY TO RECOVER CERTAIN COSTS OF PROVIDING ELECTRIC UTILITY SERVICES. EXCESS CHARGES ARE PROSCRIBED.**

Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-1, et seq. provides for public works programs. Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-1 authorizes any city to construct electric and other power plants and distribution systems.

Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-10 limits the fees which may be charged by such a public works program to those sufficient to provide for producing the power and operating the system in question, and not in excess thereof. See § 55-3-10, above at vi.

Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-10 states that: "Rates for services furnished by any project or service as described in Section 55-3-1 hereof shall be reasonable . . ." The statute continues by stating that such rates: "shall be sufficient to provide for" specified costs of doing business, including reserves: 1) paying interest and principal of all bonds, 2) creating a bond and interest sinking fund, 3) paying the expenses of administration and operation and maintenance of the project or service, 4) creating a reserve for depreciation, and 5) creating a reserve for improvements, betterments and extensions other than those necessary to maintain the system. Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-10. The above contemplate all costs necessary to operate the system.



The statute is clear that the rates which may be fixed may produce sufficient revenues to provide for those areas mentioned above, but not amounts in excess thereof:

Such rates may be fixed and revised . . . so as to produce these amounts, and . . . maintain such rates for services furnished by the project or service as shall be sufficient to provide for the foregoing, but not in excess of a reasonable rate for the service rendered.

(Emphasis added.)

Under the present circumstances, the City does not set the rates sufficient to provide only for costs of operation mentioned above and not in excess of a reasonable rate for the service rendered. The City sets rates for the specific, contemplated purpose of creating surpluses which the City specifically declares will be transferred to the general fund. The rates are set to produce revenue, not just provide a service. The City then diverts that revenue into the general fund as contemplated in the budget. Such a practice is unlawful and should not be countenanced.

The court below denied plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on the facts and law just recounted. The Citizen submits that the lower court should have granted the Citizen's motion for summary judgment on the undisputed facts and should have held that the excess charges, anticipated by the City in its budget, collected and diverted to the general fund, were improper. Instead of doing this, the court held to the contrary,

finding that no factual circumstance could be proved whereby the excess charges could be violative of the above-mentioned statute. That decision was error.

### POINT III

BY CASE LAW, CHARGES FOR UTILITY SERVICES ARE FEES NOT TAXES AND MUST NOT BE IN EXCESS OF A REASONABLE RATE FOR THE SERVICE RENDERED. TO THE EXTENT THEY ARE USED TO RAISE REVENUE THEY ARE ILLEGAL.

Courts in Utah have long made a distinction between fees and taxes. A fee is a charge imposed for a service rendered, and may not exceed the reasonable cost of rendering that service. If the fee is greater than the reasonable cost of rendering the service, resulting in revenue, it is considered a tax, and is inappropriate, beyond statutory authority, and even unconstitutional.

In Ponderosa One Limited Partnership v. Salt Lake City Suburban Sanitary Dist., 738 P.2d 635 (Utah 1987), this Court had before it the issue of "whether the payment of sewer service charges is the payment of a tax." Id. at 636. If the sewer service charges were a tax, then certain limitations on filing suits would apply.

This Court specifically held that sewer charges are fees not taxes:

"Sewer charges and fees are not taxes or special assessments, but are in the nature of tolls or rents paid for services furnished or

available." 11 E.McQuillin, Municipal Corporations § 31.30a (3d Rev.Ed. 1983). See also, Jennings v. Walsh, 214 Kan. 398, 521 P.2d 311 (1974).

Id. at 637. The court continued:

In Home Builders Association of Greater Salt Lake v. Provo City, 28 Utah.2d 402, 503 P.2d 451 (1972), and Murray City v. Board of Education, 16 Utah.2d 115, 396 P.2d 628 (1964), this Court denied the characterization of a sewer charge and a connection charge as a revenue measure and stated that such charges are neither taxes nor assessments but payments for services furnished. Home Builders Association, 503 P.2d at 452. That characterization is echoed in City of Stanfield v. Burnett, 222 Or. 427, 353 P.2d 242 (1960), overruled on other grounds, Aloha Sanitary Dist. v. Wilkins, 245 Or. 40, 420 P.2d 74, 77 (1966), where property owners not hooked up to the sewer system had challenged the city's imposition of a fee and where the court found that "a charge for the use of a sewer is not a tax or assessment, but a charge for a service rendered and is based on contract."

Id. at 637 (Emphasis added). The court finally concluded that the sewer charges were not a levy to raise revenues, therefore not a tax: "The fee therefore was a use charge and not a levy to raise revenues." Id. at 638.

In Mountain States Telephone v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 113 (Utah 1985), this Court considered a county ordinance levying a utility tax on the sale of utility services in unincorporated areas of the county. The court found that local revenue measures are ultra vires where they are supported by nothing more than the power to regulate. The court then quoted

with approval, an Illinois case, City of Chicago Heights v. Public Service Company, infra, wherein the Illinois court:

"struck down an ordinance which imposed license fees greatly in excess of the reasonable cost of regulating the use of the City streets. See also 12 E McQuillin, supra, Paragraph 34.82 at 200 ("the fee is invalid if its amount is so much in excess of that necessary for supervision and inspection that it is clear the fee is one for revenue").

Id. at 118 (Emphasis added). The court cited other cases from other jurisdictions with approval, such as Chesapeake v. Potomac Telephone Company v. City of Morgantown, 143 W.VA. 800, 105 S.E.2d 260 (1958).

In Consolidation Coal Co. v. Emery County, 702 P.2d 121 (Utah 1985), several businesses sought declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, and a refund of fees paid, challenging the validity of portions of an Emery County business license ordinance. The district court declared the challenged portions unconstitutional and beyond Emery County's statutory authority, and enjoined any further efforts to enforce the provisions. The portions of the statute challenged required payment to the county of an additional business license fee of one-half of one percent of the fair market value of goods sold, where such value exceeded \$150,000 per year. In finding the fee inappropriate, the court specifically found that the money to be generated thereby (over \$800,000), as the money in the case at bar, "was to go into Emery County's general fund to be expended for general county

purposes." Id. at 123. The lower court also found that the fee bore no relationship to the cost of enforcing the ordinance, and the monies generated appeared to be general revenue.

This Court affirmed the district court, and discussed the distinction between a licensing fee, which must reasonably relate to the costs of the service, and a fee primarily to raise revenue under a municipality's taxing power:

Fees for services which were not under the taxing powers "must bear some reasonable relationship to the cost of regulating the business so licensed." Weber Basin Home Builders Association v. Roy, 26 Utah 2d 215, 217, 487 P.2d 466, 467 (1971).

Id. at 123. The court considered Utah Code Annotated § 17-5-27 which authorizes the county commission to "license for a purpose of regulation and revenue all and every kind of business not prohibited by law." Id. at 123 (Emphasis added). In spite of that statute which apparently authorized a county to charge a fee to obtain revenue as well as to recoup costs of service, this Court affirmed its prior holding in Cache Co. v. Jensen, 21 Utah 207, 61 P.303 (1900), and declared that the county could not charge a fee to "raise revenue through licensing except insofar as such revenue is necessary to, and therefore proportionate to, the cost of regulation of the licensed entities." Consolidated Coal at 127.

In Lafferty v. Payson City, 642 P.2d 376 (Utah 1982), this Court considered an "impact fee" of \$1,000.00 per family

dwelling unit prior to issuance of any building permit. The district court held that such a fee was not proper. This Court affirmed the district court's reliance on Weber Basin Home Builder's Association v. Roy City, 26 Utah.2d 215, 487 P.2d 866 (1971), where the lower court invalidated "an increase in a building permit fee on the basis that it was an illegal tax." Id. at 378. The district court invalidated the fee because it was in the nature of a tax to raise revenue:

The opinion notes that the purpose of the increase was to obtain additional money for the city's general fund, into which the proceeds were deposited.

Id. at 378 (Emphasis added). This Court affirmed the district court. This Court cited several cases where "fees were imposed to finance a specific municipal service or capital expenditure" which the court felt was proper. However, the fee in question and that in the Weber Basin Home Builders case was distinguishable, "on the basis that a reasonable charge for a specific service is permissible whereas a general fee that amounts to a revenue measure is not. Home Builders Association of Greater Salt Lake, 28 Utah.2d at 404, 503 P.2d at 452." Id. at 378 (Emphasis added). The court then affirmed, stating that impact fees deposited in the city's general fund were an illegal tax:

We affirm that distinction and agree with the district court's conclusion that the impact fee deposited in the city's general revenues

in this case is an illegal tax. Weber Basin Home Builders Association v. Roy City, supra.

Id. at 378.

In Banberry Development Corporation v. South Jordan City, 631 P.2d 899 (Utah 1981) (Hereafter "Banberry"), this Court upheld the validity of water connection and park improvement fees assessed against developers of real property. The court cited Home Builders Association v. Provo City, 28 Utah 2d 402, 503 P.2d 451 (1972), discussed below at Point IV, wherein this Court sustained the validity of a sewer connection fee which was imposed in order to improve and enlarge the sewer system. The court found that the improvement fee was not a revenue measure or an assessment, but a "reasonable charge for the use thereof," Banberry at 903, because the funds generated were to be used in reasonable relation to the service provided:

. . . the funds obtained were to be restricted to the enlargement, improvement, and operation of the sewer system and to the retirement of indebtedness incurred in its construction.

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