1991

Leo A. Walker v. Brigham City, Peter C. Knudsen,
Beth W. Currister, David G. Hacking, Dee J.
Hammon, Robert B. Shelton and Mark A. Walker,
redevelopment Agency No. 1 and No 2., Michael T.
Cosgrove, and John or jane Does I though X of
Brigham City, : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE BRIGHAM CITY COUNCIL TO SET ELECTRICAL UTILITY RATES AT LEVELS THAT GENERATE REVENUES IN EXCESS OF THE COST OF PROVIDING ELECTRICAL UTILITY SERVICE IS A VALID EXERCISE OF LEGISLATIVE DISCRETION BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED BY THIS COURT UNLESS FOUND TO BE SO UNREASONABLE AS TO BE ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

In essence, Walker is asking the judicial branch of government to intervene in the legislative and discretionary functions of the Brigham City Council and hold that Brigham City's legitimate decision-making process in setting electrical utility rates is invalid. This court, however, should not involve itself in the rate setting process, McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, § 35.37a, 3rd ed. 1983. While a limited form of judicial review may be appropriate as to whether the rate setting procedure is so unreasonable as to be considered arbitrary and capricious, courts may not engage in rate making since that would represent an unwarranted intrusion into a legislative function, McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, § 35.37a, 3rd ed. 1983.

Utah courts have historically given considerable deference to the actions of the governing body of municipalities for the

same or substantially similar public policy considerations. As this Court stated the proposition in Clayton v. Salt Lake City, 387 P.2d 93, 94 (Utah 1963):

Inherent in the nature of its duties and its presumed superior knowledge and expertise in performing them, the public authority must have a wide latitude in which to exercise its judgment as to the best means of accomplishing that objective. The court is reluctant to interfere with the administrative function and would do so only if facts were shown to indicate dishonesty, fraud, collusion or lack of good faith in performing the duty mentioned. That is not demonstrated here.

The same general policy was more recently iterated in Triangle Oil, Inc. v. North Salt Lake Corp., 609 P.2d. 1338 (Utah 1980):

It has been found to be wise and proper judicial policy to exercise its [the judiciary's] power with restraint, and not intrude into or interfere with the discretionary functions or policies of other departments of government. Accordingly, the courts generally will not so interfere with actions of a city council unless its action is outside of its authority or is so wholly discordant to reason and justice that its action must be deemed capricious and arbitrary and thus in violation of the complainants rights.

609 P.2d at 1340 (emphasis added).

Courts in other states which have specifically addressed municipal utility rates have recognized a presumption of validity in rates set by municipal ordinance. Plaintiffs challenging such rates bear a heavy burden in showing they are unreasonable. Inland Real Estate Corp. v. Village of Pallatine, 496 N.E.2d at 1002 (Ill. 1986).

In the instant case, Walker neither asserted nor provided any evidence to the trial court that Brigham City's utility rates resulted from dishonesty, fraud, or collusion. Likewise, Walker neither claimed nor provided any evidence at all that the rates were "wholly discordant with reason." With the required deference to the local government functions, the presumption of reasonableness clearly favors the position of Brigham City in this case. See Id.

Because Walker completely failed to provide any evidence of unreasonableness to the trial court, this presumption itself would have been sufficient to support a summary judgment in Brigham City's favor. Nonetheless, Brigham City provided the trial court with further evidence of the reasonableness of its rates in the form of deposition testimony and affidavits. (Rec. at 652-664.)

Brigham City's Memorandum in support of its Motion For Partial Summary Judgment presented evidence in the form of deposition testimony from Mark Stevens, a CPA, regarding charges for utility services. Stevens's testimony established that rates charged by Brigham City are lower than rates charged for similar service by Utah Power & Light Company and other municipally owned and operated utilities of similar size to Brigham City. Record at 658 -661.

Walker provided the trial court with no evidence at all to refute Brigham City's evidence of the reasonableness of its

utility rates. Walker merely attempted, as he does again on appeal, to equate "unreasonableness" with any revenue exceeding operating costs. In his Brief, the only supporting evidence Walker cites is the deposition testimony of an accountant to the effect that Brigham City's utility revenues have exceeded costs and that Mr. Walker's payments are "in excess of a pro rata rate for the cost to Brigham City of services rendered to Mr. Walker." Walker Brief, pp. 18-19. As discussed above, whether revenues exceed costs is essentially irrelevant. The only issue properly presented to the trial court on summary judgment was the reasonableness of the rates.

"In evaluating whether the evidence reveals a genuine issue of material fact ..., [the court] must take into consideration the eventual standard of proof, at trial on the merits, of each element of ... [the] claim." Weber v. Springville City, 725 P.2d 1360 (Utah 1986); Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 740 P.2d 262 (Utah App. 1987). Brigham City presented evidence of the reasonableness of the utility rates and that evidence was never controverted with competent evidence by Walker.

The undisputed evidence before the trial court was that Brigham City's utility rates are reasonable compared to the rates charged by other comparable utilities, both regulated and unregulated. Based on that conclusion, the trial court properly deferred to the exercise of legislative discretion by the Brigham City Council and refrained from involving itself in the rate

setting process for all of the public policy reasons more fully discussed above. Where no material issues of fact regarding the reasonableness of Brigham City's utility rates were presented to the trial court, summary judgment for defendants was mandatory.

POINT II

BRIGHAM CITY'S RATES FOR ELECTRICAL UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES ARE REASONABLE FOR THE SERVICE PROVIDED AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A municipality which owns and operates a public utility is exercising its business powers and may conduct the activity in a manner which promises the greatest benefit to the City. The process of setting rates for utility services by a municipality is a legislative act and authority for the act is vested in the governing body of the municipality. McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, § 35.37, 3rd ed. 1983. Unless the municipality's exercise of discretion is in bad faith or ultra vires, courts should not interfere with the reasonable legislative decision making process of the City Council. McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, § 35.27, 3rd ed. 1983; Triangle Oil, Inc. v. North Salt Lake Corp., 609 P.2d 1338, 1340 (Utah 1980); Enterprise, Inc. v. Nampa City, 536 P.2d 729 (Idaho 1975).

A. Brigham City is authorized to charge reasonable rates.

Brigham City's authority to own and operate its utility works is established by Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-1 et seq. Section 55-3-10 addresses the topic of the rates Brigham City may charge for these services:

Rates for service to be reasonable and uniform - May be revised.

Rates for services furnished by any project or service as described in Section 55-3-1 hereof shall be reasonable and uniform in respect to class at all times. They may be fixed precedent to the issuance of the bonds. Such rates shall be sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest upon and principal of all such bonds as and when the same become due and payable, to create a bond and interest sinking fund therefor, to provide for the payment of the expenses of administration and operation and such expenses for the maintenance of the project or service, necessary to preserve the same in good repair and working order, to build up a reserve for depreciation, to build up a reserve for improvements, betterments and extensions other than those necessary to maintain the same in good repair and working order, and to pay the interest on and principal of any other bonds or obligations outstanding and issued in connection with the purchase, construction, repair or improvement of the project or service. Such rates may be fixed and revised from time to time so as to produce these amounts, and the governing body may covenant and agree in the ordinance or other legislative enactment authorizing the issuance of such bonds and on the face of each bond at all times to maintain such rates for services furnished by the project or service as shall be sufficient to provide for the foregoing, but not in excess of a reasonable rate for the services rendered.

This provision clearly provides that the service rates "shall be sufficient" to cover the costs and expenses specifically enumerated. The only limit § 55-3-10 places on rates is they not exceed a "reasonable rate for the service rendered."

In his Brief, Walker argues, without authority, that § 55-3-10 provides that the charges may not exceed amounts sufficient to cover the enumerated expenses. Walker Brief, pp. 2-4. Clearly, if this had been the legislature's intent, it would have included language to that effect and all references to "reasonable rate

for the service" would have been eliminated. The very title of the provision makes this abundantly clear: "Rates for service to be reasonable and uniform - may be revised."

There appears to be no case law in this state directly interpreting the "reasonableness" provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-10, which is not surprising given the relatively clear language of the statute. It is, however, well recognized in other jurisdictions that in setting utility rates, municipalities are not restricted to charging rates based solely on the costs of providing such services.

For example, in Hansen v. City of San Buenaventura, 729 P.2d 186, 192 (Cal. 1986), the California Supreme Court found that an entity of local government could charge and collect fees for services, such as a municipal utility system, and use the net proceeds of such enterprises "for the benefit of its own general fund." The California Court further noted that "parks, playgrounds, public utilities, and other facilities in aid of the health and welfare of the community . . . may be operated for profit." [Emphasis in original]. Finally, the California Court held that "it is for the local governing body to determine precise rates and whether the system should be subsidized or profitable."

Similarly, in Chocolay Charter Township v. City of Marquette, 358 N.W.2d 636, 638 (Mich. 1984) the Michigan Court of Appeals recognized, "A municipality is not required to furnish

utility services at cost, but may charge a rate which will yield a profit." See also, Inland real Estate Corp. v. Village of Pallatine, 496 N.E.2d 998, 1002 (Ill. 1986); Killian v. City of Paris, 241 S.W.2d 524, 527 (Tenn. 1951); and City of Corning v. Iowa/Nebraska Light & Power Co., 282 N.W. 791, 799 (Iowa 1938). McQuillin, a recognized authority in the area of municipal law, agrees with this position: "A city is entitled to a reasonable profit and may even use that profit for other valid municipal purposes." McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, § 35.37c, 3rd ed. 1988.

B. Fees for electrical utility services may permissibly generate revenues which exceed the cost of providing such services.

Under Point III of his Brief, Walker makes the convoluted argument that utility charges are not taxes, but rather fees, and because municipalities may raise revenues only through taxes, Brigham City is not permitted to raise revenues through utility charges. Walker's simplistic argument fails to recognize that there are essentially two distinct types of fees. These are: 1) licensing or permit fees for regulatory processes, and 2) fees for specific services. He mistakenly bases his argument completely on cases discussing licensing fees and regulatory measures. None of these cases supports his position.

Walker first cites Mountain States Telephone v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 113 (Utah 1985), where the only issue considered

by the court was whether the county could levy a utility license tax as a condition to the granting of a franchise for the use of public rights of way. As Walker notes in his Brief, the court quoted City of Chicago Heights v. Public Service Co., 97 N.E.2d 807 (Ill. 1951), in which an Illinois court "struck down an ordinance which imposed license fees greatly in excess of the reasonable cost of regulating the use of city streets." Mountain States, 702 P.2d at 118. Thus the court focused on the reasonable relationship between licensing revenues and the cost of regulation. Id.

Another case relied upon by Walker is Consolidated Coal Co. v. Emery County, 702 P.2d 121 (Utah 1985). Consolidated Coal concerns the validity of an Emery County business license ordinance. The court expressly held that Utah counties are not permitted "to raise revenues through licensing except insofar as such revenue is necessary to (and therefore proportionate to the cost of) regulation of the licensed entities." The court found that the ordinance in question was invalid because it had "little, if any, regulatory purpose or effect." 702 P.2d at 127. Thus, as in Mountain States, the court discussed only the reasonable relation between licensing revenues and the cost of regulation.

Walker also cites Lafferty v. Payson City, 642 P.2d 376 (Utah 1982), Banberry Development Corp. v. South Jordan City, 631 P.2d 899 (Utah 1981), and Call v. City of West Jordan, 614 p.2d

1257 (Utah 1980). All three of these cases involve ordinances requiring impact or connection fees from a builder as a prerequisite to final approval of the builder's plat or building permit. Again, the ordinances in question were regulatory measures.

Brigham City recognizes that these cases cited by Walker support the proposition that local governmental regulatory fees are required under state law to be reasonably related to the costs of regulation. This case, however, involves only fees for specific services - the same services which, in some communities, are provided by investor-owned utility companies. Brigham City's charges are not imposed as a prerequisite of any city certification or regulatory action or as payment for future services or costs. They are rather contractual service charges for services which plaintiff voluntarily used. As discussed above, the only restriction is that the fees be at a "reasonable rate for the services rendered." Utah Code Ann. § 55-3-10.

Walker has not cited a single case which states that fees for specific, nonregulatory, services cannot exceed the cost of providing those services. The courts should not intrude into this decision making process unless there is a showing, by competent evidence, that the rates charged are without any rational basis or are otherwise so unreasonable as to be completely arbitrary and capricious.

The undisputed evidence on the limited question of "reasonableness" in this case demonstrates that Brigham City's rates are not unreasonable, as more fully set forth under Point I, supra, and the trial Court properly declined to substitute its judgment for that of the Brigham City Council. Accordingly, Walker's challenge to the wisdom of this exercise of the legislative body's discretion was properly dismissed as a matter of law.

POINT III

THE PLAINTIFF HAS NO PROTECTED PROPERTY INTEREST OR CONSTITUTIONAL BASIS TO CHALLENGE THE RATES CHARGED FOR UTILITY SERVICES BY BRIGHAM CITY.

Walker alleges, in conclusory fashion, that the electrical utility rates charged by Brigham City somehow violate the takings clause of the Utah Constitution. He fails, however, to identify any protected or recognized property interest sufficient to invoke the protection of either constitutional provision.

Article I, § 22 of the Utah Constitution provides, "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation." Before being entitled to recover under this provision, Walker must identify "some protectible property interest." Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622, 625 (Utah 1990).

It is difficult to ascertain the nature of the protected interest Walker is claiming in this case. While continued utility service has been recognized as a protected property

interest, which may not be terminated except for cause and after reasonable notice, Walker has failed to show that any such protected property interest is involved in this case. Walker can only recover for the taking of property to the extent that property exists and to the extent that he has legal rights in that property. Id. at 626.

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